## SUPREME COURT

JUL 28 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE	) No. S190713
OF CALIFORNIA,	) (Fourth Dist., Div. 3,
Plaintiff and Respondent,	) No. G040716
v.	<ul><li>) (Orange County</li><li>) Superior Court No. 06NF2339)</li></ul>
COLE ALLEN WILKINS,	)
Defendant and Appellant.	)
	)

Appeal from the Superior Court of Orange County Hon. Richard F. Toohey, Judge

### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Richard A. Levy (SBN 126824) 21535 Hawthorne Blvd., Suite 200 Torrance, CA 90503-6612 (310) 944-3311

Attorney for Cole Wilkins

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE	) No. S190713
OF CALIFORNIA,	)

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

"Should the trial court have instructed the jury, as requested, with CALCRIM No. 3261, on the theory that a homicide and an underlying felony do not constitute one continuous transaction for purposes of the felony-murder rule if the killer has escaped to a place of temporary safety before the homicide takes place?" (Order granting review.)

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I.

#### Procedural history

Wilkins was charged by first amended information with one count of murder (Pen. Code, § 187) and one count of receiving stolen property (Pen. Code, § 496), with an allegation of a prior prison term (Pen. Code, § 667.5, subd. (b)). (CT (1) 189-90.) Prior to trial, the court dismissed the count of receiving stolen property on the People's motion. (CT (1) 282; Aug. RT (1) 5:22-6:22.)

Trial on the prison prior was bifurcated. (RT (1) 30:19-26.) The jury found Wilkins guilty of first-degree murder. (CT (2) 402; RT (6) 1033:24-1034:10.) He waived his right to a jury or court trial on the prison prior and admitted it. (RT (1) 31:2-15; (6) 1038:14-1039:13.)

The court sentenced him to the prescribed term of imprisonment for 25 years to life for the murder, with a consecutive term of one year for the prior. (CT (1) 563-64, 566-67; RT (6) 1055:2-8.) The Court of Appeal (Fourth District, Div. 3) affirmed in a published opinion, which was superseded by this Court's grant of review and limitation of the issue. (People v. Wilkins (2011) 191 Cal.App.4th 780, review granted May 5, 2011, S190713.) (See "Issue Presented" above.)

#### II.

#### Statement of facts

The jury found that Wilkins committed burglary felony murder: Sometime after he had stolen kitchen appliances from a house under construction and had loaded them in the back of his pickup truck, one of the appliances fell from the truck onto the freeway, precipitating a collision that resulted in the death of another motorist. The following facts are either undisputed or viewed in the light most favorable to the judgment, except where specifically noted.

#### A. The burglary.

Wilkins, who was 30 years old at the time of the crime (July 2006), worked in construction, disposing of drywall scraps at the worksites of his uncle's drywall company. (RT (2) 90:1-12; (2) 93:9-94:4; (2) 109:4-10; (3) 390:2-11; (5) 744:8-9; (5) 755:5-756:10.) Wilkins and a former girlfriend, Kathleen Trivich, an emergencyroom physician, bought a plot of land in Palm Springs as an investment, intending to build a house and then sell the property. (RT (3) 323:13-325:15; (3) 326:2-6; (5) 744:10-24; (5) 746:17-747:3.) Trivich provided the money for the land and construction expenses; Wilkins's role was to oversee the construction. (RT (3) 326:7-20; (5) 747:4-11.) Trivich also bought a Ford F250 pickup truck for Wilkins's use, but the title was in her name and the insurance specifically excluded him; she expected him to have his own insurance. (RT (3) 329:7-331:1.)

On June 28 or 29, 2006, Wilkins happened to be working at a job site just 300 to 400 yards from the site where Dennis and Audrey Kane were constructing their own house in Menifee, Riverside County. (RT (2) 90:15-93:22; (2) 95:23-96:22; (2) 113:16-115:24 (referring to exhibit 5); (5) 469:19-470:13 (cell phone records); exhibit 26 (chart of cell towers).) On that day, the Kanes happened to receive a shipment of numerous large kitchen appliances and some other fixtures, including a stove, refrigerator, microwave oven, stove hood, sink, and ceiling fans. (RT (2) 115:25-116:21.) They had the items stored in the kitchen and garage. (RT (2) 116:22-25.) Wilkins would have been able to see the delivery and unloading from the nearby job site. (See RT (2) 115:21-24; exhibit 5.)

On July 6, at about 7:30 or 8 p.m., Todd Gorman, who was doing some construction work on the Kane house, locked the house up for the evening. (RT (2) 113:21-114:7; (2) 133:9-134:1.) The appliances and other items were locked inside. (RT (2) 134:4-135:4.) Sometime that night or early the next morning – possibly at about 4 a.m., based on cell phone records – Wilkins drove to Kane's home and entered the house through the laundry room window, which had a faulty lock. (RT (2) 129:10-130:7; (2) 136:7-137:6; (2) 140:12-15.)1

(...continued)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Cell phone records showing a call at 4:30 a.m. originating at or near a cell tower about 31 miles north of Kane's house, near the intersection of the I-91 and I-215 freeways (RT (2) 254:7-24; (3) 481:4-482:10; (4) 547:9-548:12; exhibit 26), which allowed an inference that Wilkins left the Kane house at about 4 a.m. As

He loaded up his F250 truck with the appliances and other items, putting the boxed stove, the boxed refrigerator, and other large appliances in the truck bed, and piling smaller items in the cab. (RT (2) 176:1-7; (2) 178:24-179:4.) He left the tailgate down and did not use any tiedowns on the boxes in the bed, even though he had tiedowns available to use. (RT (2) 175:25-26; (2) 179:18-180:4; (2) 295:22-26; (2) 310:4-11; (5) 870:1-4 (Wilkins's admission at trial).) According to a videotaped simulation of the load based on an eyewitness's recollection, Wilkins may have been unable to put the tailgate up because one of the boxes jutted back too far. (RT (2) 180:5-181:18; exhibit 28 (video).) Wilkins then headed back to his home in Long Beach. (RT (2) 254:7-24; (5) 778:18-24; see (2) 180:5-181:25; exhibit 28.)

#### B. The freeway accident and homicide.

At about 5 a.m., while Wilkins was driving westbound on the 91 (Artesia) freeway near the truck scales, a few miles before the Kraemer exit, motorist Danny Lay happened to be driving behind him. (RT (2) 164:11-167:7.) Both Lay and Wilkins were in the no. 2 lane (that is, the fast lane was to the left, and the diamond lane to the left of that), and both were traveling 60 to 65 mph. (RT (2) 164:18-165:2; (2) 167:13-17.) It was still dark

will be seen, the traffic accident occurred a further 31 miles west at about 5 a.m. (RT (3) 390:2-11; (4) 547:2-548:12.) No eyewitness testified to seeing Wilkins at the house at any time after Todd Gorman had locked it up.

outside. (RT (2) 165:9-12; (2) 217:7-10.)

Lay noticed that the tailgate of Wilkins's pickup truck was down, and he saw the boxes piled on the bed. (RT (2) 167:18-22; (2) 175:25-176:3.) It appeared to Lay that Wilkins "was driving in the lane like any other vehicle was" (RT (2) 167:18-22), and the load of boxes was stationary, not shifting (RT (2) 187:21-188:23).

Lay followed behind Wilkins without incident for five and a half miles, but suddenly, near the Kraemer exit, a box containing a stove fell off the bed of the pickup truck and landed in the same lane. (RT (2) 167:1-7; (2) 168:2-6; (2) 188:24-189:13; (4) 546:16-547:1 (distance).) Lay swerved left to try to avoid the box but it struck the right front of his car. (RT (2) 168:9-25.) The impact kicked the box to the right. (RT (2) 168:26-169:1.)

Other vehicles on the freeway also struck the box. (RT (2) 215:17-217:22; (2) 222:4-16.) Some motorists swerved and were able to avoid the box. (RT (2) 216:1-8; CT (2) 570 (transcript of 911 call played for jury).) Murder victim David Piquette, who had been driving his Crown Victoria sedan in the fast lane or the no. 2 lane, evidently tried to avoid the box but lost control: When the box was ahead of him in the no. 2 lane or straddling the no. 1 and no. 2 lanes, he made a sharp turn to the right, which one eyewitness characterized as a "90 degree turn." (RT (2) 224:10-226:1; (2) 229:6-8; (2) 231:5-8; (2) 233:11-14; (2) 236:11-13; (3) 391:3-19; (4) 663:24-664:13; see (4) 660:12-661:10 (accident reconstruction explains how a sharp turn might appear to an observer to be 90 degrees).)

Piquette struck a big rig double-trailer truck that had been

traveling in the no. 4 (slow) lane. (RT (2) 224:10-14; (2) 234:5-12; (2) 239:17-19; (2) 248:13-249:10; (2) 251:23-25.) The driver of the truck, who had veered to try to avoid Piquette's car, lost control and crashed into the K-rail on the right of the shoulder. (RT (2) 239:20-23; (2) 249:11-13; (2) 252:12-14; (4) 671:11-672:3.) The truck fell over to the left, pinning Piquette's car under it, between the two trailers. (RT (2) 239:17-240:6; (3) 424:22-425:2.)

Piquette died at the scene. (RT (3) 427:22-428:13.) The cause of death was positional asphyxia: the body was compressed in the wreckage so that Piquette could not breathe. (RT (3) 417:4-21.)

#### C. Wilkins's attempts to conceal his role in the accident.

Danny Lay, whose car had been damaged when it struck the stove, maneuvered his car to try to signal Wilkins to pull over. (RT (2) 168:26-171:26.) Wilkins slowed down and began to pull over to the shoulder but then accelerated and drove off again. (RT (2) 171:6-172:24.) Lay resumed trying to signal him with flashing lights and horn blasts, and Wilkins finally exited and drove with Lay to a parking lot. (RT (2) 173:4-175:3.) When Lay got out of his car and approached Wilkins in the truck, Wilkins threatened to "kick your ass." (RT (2) 175:10-14.) But when Lay told him something had fallen out of his truck, Wilkins walked to the bed of the truck, saw that the boxed stove was missing, and exclaimed: "Oh, my God. It's a thousand-dollar stove." (RT (2) 175:10-21; (5) 781:4-8.)

Lay observed that the tailgate was still down, and he saw

no tiedowns or any remnants indicating that tiedowns had ever been used. (RT (2) 175:25-26; (2) 179:18-24.)

Wilkins provided a false name (Michael (not Cole) Wilkins), and after pretending to search his glove compartment he told Lay that he did not have his registration and insurance information in the truck. (RT (20 176:8-177:2; 2) 178:16-20; (5) 781:21-782:4.) (Wilkins's driver license had been suspended, but his ID card and Trivich's insurance policy were in the cab. (RT (4) 527:11-528:15; (5) 782:5-14; (5) 875:7-14.)) He truthfully stated that the owner of the truck was Trivich, but he provided phony contact numbers. (RT (2) 177:3-178:5; see (3) 330:5-6.) The truck displayed paper plates, but a DMV envelope containing metal plates was in the cabin. (RT (2) 165:25-166:6; (4) 523:23-524:19; exhibit 25.) (The truck had been purchased just three months earlier. (RT (3) 329:21-24.))

After talking to Lay in the parking lot, Wilkins got back on the freeway and returned home to Long Beach. (RT (2) 259:13-261:2.) His girlfriend, Nancy Blake, helped him unload the boxes. (RT (2) 254:7-255:14; (2) 262:2-263:7.) That evening, they reloaded some of the appliances into the pickup truck and drove to a friend's home in Palm Springs. (RT (2) 266:11-267:20; (2) 268:4-7; (2) 270:2-5.) Wilkins unloaded the appliances and stored them in the friend's garage. (RT (2) 270:21-272:8; (3) 376:13-22; (3) 382:9-383:6; (3) 402:14-405:16.) He told the friend (Sean Doherty): "I'm in trouble. Something's happened. There has been an accident" in which someone died. (RT (3) 378:12-18.) He said he hadn't gone back to the scene of the accident because "he

couldn't go to jail." (RT (2) 380:13-17.) When Trivich came to Doherty's home later the same day, Wilkins asked her to say that she had been driving the truck, but she refused. (RT (3) 344:7-16; (3) 381:4-382:3; (3) 387:22-388:3.)

Wilkins gave Lay's contact information to Trivich, and she phoned Lay to arrange to resolve the damages without involving an insurance company, but Lay did not pursue this after he learned of the fatality. (RT (2) 183:10-185:6; (2) 206:10-207:1; (3) 341:23-344:2.))

#### D. Defense case.

Wilkins testified on his own behalf. The jury evidently did not credit the evidence that he was not the burglar but only a receiver of stolen property. The jury also did not credit the evidence that the accident was not part of a continuous transaction with the burglary, under the instructions given.

Both the prosecution and the defense versions provided evidence that the accident was not part of a continuous transaction with the burglary. Under the prosecution version, given the distance from Menifee to the accident site, the burglary could not have taken place after 4 a.m., and by the time of the accident an hour later Wilkins was already 62 miles away, and not being pursued. (See RT (4) 548:7-12.) Under Wilkins's version, as summarized below, he had gone to Palm Springs and was safely at his friend's house, so that the subsequent trip to Long Beach was a separate journey long after he had obtained unquestioned control over the goods.

Wilkins testified that he bought the appliances and other goods from another man, knowing or at least assuming that they were stolen property. (RT (5) 766:1-21; (5) 768:5-20; (5) 851:8-11.) The man, whom he knew only as "Rick," had sold him items in the past. (RT (5) 760:8-761:8.) On July 5, Wilkins stopped at a health club on the way home from community service and happened to see Rick in the parking lot. (RT (5) 831:7-832:4.) Rick, who apparently knew that Wilkins was going to be building a house, told him he had some appliances for sale. (RT (5) 762:19-26; (5) 832:5-13.) They agreed to meet the next evening. July 6, at a Home Depot parking lot en route to Palm Spring. (RT (5) 763:6-20; (5) 835:22-836:4.) (Wilkins was going to be driving to Palm Springs the next day in order to get an early start the next morning dealing with local officials over a zoning issue for the house he and Trivich planned to build. (RT (5) 764:25-765:26; (5) 770:14-772:22.)) When they met at the Home Depot, Rick offered to sell him a panoply of appliances and other items (all of them stolen from the Kane house) for \$1500. (RT (5) 766:9-767:4.) Wilkins agreed, and after a short delay for Wilkins to obtain more money, he paid the \$1500 and loaded the goods into his truck. (RT (5) 768:21-769:5; (5) 848:21-8849:7; (5) 850:23-851:1.) He then proceeded to Palm Springs, intending to store the goods at Sean Doherty's house. (RT (5) 851:17-852:3.)

It was now a little after midnight on July 7. (RT (5) 850:26-851:5.) The fact that Wilkins had already obtained the goods by this time was corroborated by prosecution witness Kathleen Trivich, who testified that when she spoke to Wilkins by phone at

about 12:45 a.m., he told her: "I got some big things for the kitchen." (RT (5) 337:21-339:21; see also (5) 773:25-775:16.) (Trivich even remembered the part of the conversation in which she asked whether the items included a washer and dryer, and he had responded curtly that those were not *kitchen* appliances. (RT (3) 339:12-21; (5) 774:20-775:16.)) According to cell phone records, Wilkins's location at the time of the 12:45 a.m. call was the Yorba Linda area, which was consistent with Wilkins's version of where he purchased the items. (See RT (3) 479:3-480:5 (describing location on exhibit 26); exhibit 26.)

Wilkins drove to Sean Doherty's house to unload the goods, but they were too heavy for him to unload them himself, and Doherty was not at home. (RT (5) 776:16-777:20.) Eventually he decided to return home to Long Beach with the goods, but the accident occurred en route. (RT (5) 777:19-778:24.)<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Wilkins's credibility, however, was impeached by evidence that he had committed two thefts in 1991, when he was 17 years old. (RT (5) 743:3-19.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

I.

The trial court erred in refusing Wilkins's request for an instruction that felony-murder liability is terminated when the actual perpetrator has reached a place of temporary safety after committing the predicate burglary

A. Rules of law applicable to the complicity aspect of the felonymurder rule are not ipso facto applicable to the aggravation aspect.

There are two aspects to the felony-murder rule (Pen. Code, § 189), depending upon whether the defendant is the actual perpetrator (killer) or an aider and abettor. (People v. Pulido (1997) 15 Cal.4th 713, 720.) The felony-murder rule aggravates the punishment for the perpetrator, who would otherwise be guilty of a lesser crime for the homicide (or no crime at all in the case of an accident), whereas the rule extends complicity for the homicide to an aider and abettor, who would otherwise not be exposed to any liability at all for a homicide committed by someone else. (Ibid.) (There are two steps to aider and abettor liability: first, the aider and abettor is made complicit in the homicide, and then, as with the actual killer, his guilt is aggravated into first-degree murder. Thus, both the complicity and the aggravation aspects apply to an aider and abettor.)

Professor Robinson, whose terminology has been adopted by this court, sharply distinguishes the two aspects:

When the killer co-felon does not have the

culpability required for murder, the aggravation of culpability aspect of the felony-murder rule imputes that state of mind to the killer, and the complicity aspect of the rule imputes both the killing and culpability to the co-felons.

(Robinson, *Imputed Criminal Liability* (1984) 93 Yale L.J. 609, 618, fn. 25, cited in <u>Pulido</u>, <u>supra</u>, at p. 720; see also <u>People v. Cavitt</u> (2004) 33 Cal.4th 187, 196.) (As Robinson observes, once the complicity aspect is established, the aggravation aspect applies to the aider and abettor as well. (Robinson, at p. 618, fn. 25.))

The theoretical or policy rationales supporting the two aspects are distinct from each other. (See Robinson, <u>supra</u>, at pp. 663-65 (discussing the rationales for the aggravation aspect); <u>id</u>. at pp. 665-669 (discussing the rationales for the complicity aspect).)<sup>3</sup>

(...continued)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As one illustration of the distinct rationales for the two aspects, Professor Robinson proffers an "evidentiary justification" for the aggravation aspect, under which the felony-murder rule is justified because "such killings probably are purposeful, knowing, or at least reckless under circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to the value of human life." (Robinson, <u>supra</u>, at p. 665.) That is, proof of malice is deemed unnecessary because the perpetrator likely harbored malice in any event. This justification obviously does not apply to an aider and abettor, who may not even be aware that the perpetrator has killed someone. Professor Robinson therefore concludes that if there is an evidentiary justification for the complicity aspect, it is far more restricted and somewhat different than for the aggravation aspect. (Robinson at pp. 667-668.)

As Professor Robinson concludes:

This aspect [aggravation] of the felony-murder rule is conceptually and historically distinct from the complicity aspect discussed supra note 25.

(<u>Id.</u> at p. 624, fn. 40.) Thus, it cannot be presumed that a rule of law that applies to the complicity aspect also applies to the aggravation aspect. The two aspects serve different purposes, are based on different historical antecedents, and are conceptually different.

This court, accordingly, has taken care to distinguish the two aspects when announcing a rule of law that is applicable to one but not the other. For example:

This case involves the "complicity aspect" of the felony-murder rule. As in <u>Pulido</u>, we are not concerned with that part of the felony-murder rule making a *killer* liable for first degree murder if the homicide is committed in the perpetration of a robbery or burglary. Rather, the question here involves "a *nonkiller's* liability for the felony murder committed by another.

(Cavitt, supra, at p. 196, italics in original, internal citation and

Similarly, the justification based on deterrence is different for each aspect. The aggravation aspect directly deters the potential perpetrator from, say, firing the gun; the complicity aspect indirectly deters the potential perpetrator by encouraging each participant to police the other participants. (Robinson, supra, at pp. 665, 668.)

quotation marks omitted.) And:

At the outset, it should be emphasized we are not concerned here with that part of the felony-murder rule making a killer liable for first degree murder if the homicide is committed in the perpetration of robbery. This case involves only the question of a nonkiller's liability for the felony murder committed by another. We are concerned, in other words, not with the felony-murder rule's "aggravation of culpability aspect," but with its "complicity aspect."

(<u>Pulido, supra,</u> at p. 720, italics in original.)

B. For the aggravation aspect, this court has consistently held that the perpetrator's liability for felony murder terminates when he has reached a place of temporary safety, even though the aider and abettor's liability under the complicity aspect may continue beyond that point.

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