In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

COLE ALLEN WILKINS,

Defendant and Appellant.

SUPREME COURT FILED

Case No. S190713

DEC - 6 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

FILED WITH PERMISSION

Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. 06NF2339
Orange County Superior Court, Case No. G040716
The Honorable Richard Toohey, Judge

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

Apart from leading to absurd and illogical consequences, application of the escape rule in felony murder cases would also require an inquiry into the subjective state of whether the perpetrator believed he was safe. (People v. Thongvilay (1998) 62 Cal.App.4th 71, 83 ["'[c]ertainly appellate courts have considered the defendant's belief about whether he or she reached a place of temporary safety"], quoting People v. Kendrick (1961) 56 Cal.2d 71, 90; see also People v. Salas (1972) 7 Cal.3d 812, 823-824 [court found defendant did not reach a place of temporary safety, noting that he was in hot flight and subjectively believed he was about to be arrested for the robbery]; see also People v. Johnson (1992) 5 Cal.App.4th 552, 561.)

However, such a determination would require the jury to consider the defendant's mental state beyond whether the defendant intended to commit the enumerated felony. This Court and courts of this state have consistently held that for purposes of felony murder the prosecution need only establish the intent to commit the underlying, enumerated felony, which, in essence, supplants the mens rea of express malice usually necessary for first degree murder liability: "The felony-murder rule dispenses with the requirement of malice and replaces it with the specific intent to commit the underlying felony." (*People v. Jones* (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 663, 667; citing *People v. Coefield, supra,* 37 Cal.2d at pp. 868-869; see also *People v. Dillion* (1983) 34 Cal.3d at pp. 465, 472-477; *People v. Olsen* (1889) 80 cal. 122, 125-127.

Also, any fear that felony murder liability would continue indefinitely is unfounded if the jury is instructed on the continuous transaction doctrine. As this Court stated in *Cavitt*, "if Mianta had untied Betty, revived her, and two weeks later poisoned her in retaliation for some perceived slight, the burglary-robbery and the murder would not be part of 'one continuous transaction." (*Cavitt*, 33 Cal.3d at p. 208.) The same is

true here. If appellant had not dropped the stove directly on his way home from the burglary, but instead went home, took the smaller items out of the cab of his truck, ate dinner, went to sleep for the night, and then the following day on his way to work in the afternoon, he dropped the stove onto the freeway and someone died after hitting it, no reasonable jury instructed on the continuous transaction doctrine would have found him liable under a felony murder theory. If those were the facts of this case, there would have been a break in the chain of events before the homicide occurred. Thus, any concern that the continuous transaction doctrine would expand felony murder liability indefinitely should be rejected.

Finally, any suggestion that the one continuous transaction rule is unworkable or has no outer limits is entirely without merit. Civil and criminal juries have been called upon to determine causation in cases for more than a century. (See *Palsgraf v. Long Island R. Co.* (1928) 248 N.Y. 339, 162 N.E. 99, 100; *Dillon v. Legg* (1968) 68 Cal.2d 728, 731; *People v. Roberts* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 271, 301; *People v. Brady* (2005) 129 Cal.App.4th 1314,1325.) For example, in determining whether a defendant committed murder under the provocative act doctrine, a jury is instructed that:

To constitute the crime of [murder] there must be in addition to the [death] an unlawful [act][or] [omission] which was a cause of that [result of the crime].] [¶] The criminal law has its own particular way of defining cause. A cause of the [death] is an [act][or] [omission] that sets in motion a chain of events that produces as a direct, natural and probable consequence of the [act] [or] [omission] the [death] and without which the [death] would not occur.

(CALJIC No. 3.40.)

Likewise, the continuous transaction doctrine simply requires jurors to determine if there was some logical nexus between the underlying felony and the killing. The jury instruction given here clearly conveyed this concept to the jury, a concept juries are often required to consider.

Moreover, it should be pointed out that, under the continuous transaction instruction, a defendant is not foreclosed from arguing that he had reached a place of temporary safety. As stated above, one of the factors the court provided the jury with in determining whether there was one continuous transaction was whether the fatal act occurred while appellant was fleeing from the scene. Under this instruction, a defendant may argue to a jury that he had reached a place of temporary safety. Likewise, appellant was not precluded under the one continuous instruction as given in his case that he had reached a place of temporary safety, and therefore broke the causal chain, when he went to Doherty's house in Palm Springs or that he had reached a place of temporary safety based on the distance between the burglarized home and the location on the freeway where he dropped the stove. Accordingly, respondent submits that there was no instructional error in this case and the Court of Appeal correctly agreed and affirmed the conviction.

In sum, acceptance of appellant's limitation of the felony-murder rule to only those killings done while he is escaping to a place of temporary safety is contrary to, and would substantially frustrate, this Court's pronouncements in *Cavitt* and related cases. The focus for purposes of felony murder liability is not on the duration of the underlying felony but rather on whether the felony caused the homicide and whether the felony and homicide were part of a continuous transaction. Application of the escape rule to felony murder cases is also contrary to the purpose of the felony murder rule, which is to protect the community when an enumerated felony is perpetrated. In the abstract or even under the defense theories, Deputy Piquette's death was proximately caused by appellant's commission of the burglary and his subsequent driving of the stolen loot carelessly to his house. Thus, appellant's requested instruction on the escape rule sets the point at which felony-murder liability terminates and is an incorrect

statement of the law. It is an attempt to carve out an exception to the long standing rule that holds all perpetrators responsible for all homicides causally related to their actions in the underlying felony and should be rejected.

H. Appellant Forfeited His Claimed Error That The Trial Court Should Have Included Escape To A Place Of Temporary Safety" As A Factor To Consider As Part Of The Continuous Transaction Doctrine

In the alternative, appellant argues that the trial court should have at least included "escape to a place of temporary safety" as one of the factors in the continuous transaction instruction for the jury to consider as part of the standard jury instruction. He argues that it "was a significant factor to be considered with the other significant factors, even if not dispositive." (ABOM 32.) However, appellant never asked the trial court to modify the standard jury instruction. He has forfeited this claim by failing to do so.

A defendant cannot complain on appeal that an instruction correct and responsive to the evidence is too general or incomplete unless requested to clarify or amplify at trial. (*People v. Guiuan* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 558, 570; *People v. Jennings* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 616, 671.)

For example, in *People v. Cox* (1991) 53 Cal.3d 618, 669, this Court rejected a claim that it was error to omit a modification to aiding and abetting instructions requiring the jury to find whether the crime was a "natural and probable consequence" of the act encouraged. (*Id.* at p. 669.) The court stated:

The modification . . . constitutes a clarification of the jury's fact-finding responsibility, not the delineation of an element of a crime or a form of criminal liability That is, as worded, the instruction does not withdraw an element from the jury's determination or otherwise interject an impermissible presumption into the deliberative process. [¶] Under such circumstances, we require the defendant to

request further instructional amplification or explanation as he deems necessary.

(People v. Cox, supra, 53 Cal.3d at p. 669, fn. and citations omitted.)

Likewise, modification of CALCRIM No. 549 by insertion of a new factor regarding escape to a place of temporary safety should have been sought by appellant. He has forfeited this claim of error by failing to do so.

Furthermore, appellant's proposed modification of CALCRIM No. 549 to include the reaching of a place of temporary safety factor is a pinpoint instruction on his theory of the defense. Although a criminal defendant is entitled on request to an instruction that pinpoints the defense theory (People v. Rogers (2006) 39 Cal.4th 826, 878-879; People v. Wharton (1991) 53 Cal.3d 522, 570), "[a] party may not complain on appeal that an instruction correct in law and responsive to the evidence was too general or incomplete unless the party has requested appropriate clarifying or amplifying language." (People v. Lang (1989) 49 Cal.3d 991, 1024; see also People v. Anderson (2011) 51 Cal.4th 989, 997.) Thus, if appellant believed the instructions were incomplete or needed elaboration, it was his obligation to request additional or clarifying instructions. He has forfeited his claim of error by failing to request that the factor regarding reaching a place of temporary safety be included in the standard jury instruction given in this case. (People v. Dennis (1998) 17 Cal.4th 468, 514; accord, People v. Young (2005) 34 Cal.4th 1149, 1202 ["a defendant's failure to request a clarification instruction forfeits that claim on appeal"].)

I. Any Error Was Harmless

Even assuming the trial court committed an error in not instructing the jury on the escape rule, any such error was harmless. Appellant claims the error should be evaluated under the *Chapman* reasonable doubt standard applicable to federal constitutional violations because the court's instruction on one continuous transaction amounted to a misinstruction on

an element of the offense in violation of the right to due process under the Fourteenth Amendment and the right to trial by jury under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments. (AOB 36, citing *United States v. Gaudin* (1995) 515 U.S. 506, 509-510 [115 S.Ct. 2310, 132 L.Ed.2d 444] and *People v. Hudson* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 1002, 1013.)

Respondent submits that any error in this case did not result in a misinstruction on an element of the offense. In such a case, a judgment will not be set aside on the basis of instructional error unless, after an examination of the entire record, the error has resulted in a miscarriage of justice. (Cal. Const., art. VI, § 13.) A miscarriage of justice occurs only when it is reasonably probable that the jury would have reached a result more favorable to the appellant absent the error. (*People v. Wharton* (1991) 53 Cal.3d 522, 571–572, fn. 10; *People v. Watson* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, 836.)

Moreover, appellant's requested instruction on the escape rule is a pinpoint instruction. A court's refusal to instruct with proposed pinpoint instructions is harmless under the *Watson* standard where defense counsel's jury argument pinpoints the defense and the instructions given sufficiently cover the topic. (*People v. Gutierrez* (2002) 28 Cal.4th 1083, 1144; *People v. Hughes* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 287, 363; *People v. Fudge* (1994) 7 Cal.4th 1075, 1111-1112.)

However, even under the *Chapman* standard of prejudice there is no reasonable possibility that an error by the trial court in failing to instruct the jury on the escape rule might have contributed to the conviction in this case because even if the jury had been instructed on the escape rule, the jury would have found appellant had not yet reached a place of temporary safety at the time Deputy Piquette was killed.

The instruction on the continuous transaction doctrine given to the jury instructed them that they could consider whether the "the fatal act was

committed for the purpose of aiding the . . . escape after the felony" and "whether the fatal act occurred while the perpetrator was fleeing from the scene of the felony or otherwise trying to prevent this discovery or reporting of the crime." (6 RT 1013.) Despite this instruction, the jury still found appellant liable for felony murder.

Moreover, the only evidence that appellant did not head straight from the burglary site to his home in Long Beach was based on appellant's self-serving, uncorroborated, and inconsistent testimony that he already had the stolen loot the night before Deputy Piquette's death when he bought it in the Home Depot parking lot and then subsequently drove to his friend Doherty's house in Palm Springs with the loot where he remained for some time before bringing the loot back toward Long Beach and arriving in Orange County where the collision occurred. (5 RT 577, 764, 766-767, 777, 864, 866, 868-869.)

However, the jury disbelieved appellant's story that he bought the items at Home Depot, by finding he committed burglary as the underlying felony for his felony murder liability. (2 CT 350 [instruction that in order to find appellant guilty of felony murder, the jury must find appellant committed burglary], 402 [verdict], 406 [minute order]). There is no reasonable possibility that the jury believed appellant's other story about going to Doherty's house immediately after the obtaining the items.

Appellant's credibility as a witness was also thoroughly undermined. The jury learned that appellant had a prior theft conviction (7 RT 633-644), had previously stolen property from two different victims on different occasions (5 RT 790-791), admitted lying to Dan Lay about his name and giving false contact numbers for Trivich (5 RT 791-792); and admitted lying to Lay to keep himself from getting in trouble (5 RT 794).

Also, it was uncontested that the stove fell off appellant's truck around 5 a.m. (2 RT 164, 215; 3 RT 390; 5 RT 778; 2 CT 569.)

Appellant's version and timing of the facts preceding the stove falling off his truck is inconsistent with the uncontested fact that the stove fell off around 5 a.m. and, therefore, significantly undermined appellant's credibility and version of the events. Appellant testified that he left Doherty's house around 3 a.m. and drove straight home, stopping only once for about two to five minutes at a gas station to look for his cell phone. (5 RT 577, 868-869.) Appellant testified that he drove in the fast lane almost the entire time and said there was "zero traffic" at that hour. (5 RT 869.) It is about 85 miles from Doherty's house to the freeway exit near where appellant dropped the stove. Based on appellant's version of the events, he would have reached the location where he dropped the stove much earlier than 5 a.m. when it was uncontested that he dropped the stove.

Additionally, even assuming the jury believed appellant's claim that he went to Doherty's house, it still would not have found he had reached a place of temporary safety. Doherty's house was not a place of temporary safety as the large items were still piled in the back of and in the cab of appellant's truck parked in front of Doherty's house, visible to police and passers-by. These large items were clearly visible to onlookers, who at any moment, could notify the police of the precariously and suspiciously placed stash. In order to complete a successful escape, appellant had to get the items to a secure location. Because he did not and could secret the stolen items at Doherty's house when he was there, means he was not safe there.

And, there is no other factual theory before the jury to even suggest another defense scenario that appellant had reached a place of temporary safety. Appellant's only testimony was that he went to Doherty's, which there is no reason to believe the jury did not reject outright considering appellant's inconsistent version and timing of the events and his lack of credibility. Given that the jury clearly rejected appellant's theory of how he got the property in the first place, there is no reason to suggest the jury

believed appellant's version of the where he went after stealing the property.

Thus, even if the jury had been instructed on the escape rule, there is no reasonable possibility that the jury would have found appellant had yet reached a place of temporary safety at the time Deputy Piquette was killed.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, respondent respectfully requests this Court hold that the trial court did not err in instructing the jury on the continuous transaction doctrine. Further, any possible error was harmless. Accordingly, the judgment must be affirmed.